FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/28/2021 10:46 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/28/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100036-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVENS COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

WESTERN RIVERS CONSERVANCY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Will M. Ferguson, WSBA 40978 Attorney for Petitioner Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office of the Stevens County Prosecuting Attorney 215 S. Oak Street, Room #114 Colville, WA 99114 (509) 684-7500 <u>wferguson@stevenscountywa.gov</u> will.ferguson208@gmail.com

I. <u>

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to WA RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4), Petitioner Stevens County, a municipal corporation of the state of Washington, hereby respectfully requests review of a decision of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division III.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

Petitioner seeks review of pages 1-10 of the Court of Appeals decision in Western Rivers Conservancy v. Stevens County, No. 37516-III, filed on July 1, 2021 (hereinafter "Decision"). A copy of the Decision is attached hereto as **Appendix A**.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. If this Court grants review, should this Court hold that imposition of the compensating tax does not violate the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution or the United States Supreme Court holding in <u>Dawson v. Steager</u> and its predecessors?
- 2. If this Court grants review, should this Court reverse the grant of summary judgment when Western Rivers failed to overcome the presumption that Stevens County lawfully removed the property from forestland designation under RCW 84.33.140(5)(e)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Western Rivers Conservancy (hereinafter "Western Rivers") purchased 2,392 acres of real property (hereinafter the "property") in 2014, in Stevens County, Washington. CP 139. Approximately one year later, Western Rivers sold the property to the United States Department of Agriculture, through the United States Forest Service (hereinafter "USFS"). CP 139. During the time Western Rivers owned the property, it enjoyed a reduced tax on the property, based upon legal designation of the property as "forestland". CP 139.

The Stevens County Assessor's Office (hereinafter "Stevens County") concluded that Western Rivers had not been using the property primarily for forestland. CP 96, 98. After Western Rivers sold the property to the USFS and gave notice of sale, Stevens County ruled that the transfer was non-exempt and imposed a compensating tax. CP 96-97. Western Rivers paid the compensating tax to the Stevens County Treasurer and sued for refund. CP 113.

In June of 2016, Western Rivers filed a Summons and Complaint for Refund of Compensating Tax, in Spokane County Superior Court. CP 1-4. In 2018, after nearly two years of inactivity from Western Rivers, the Spokane County Clerk filed a Notice of Intent to Dismiss. CP 10. Western Rivers filed its First Motion for Summary Judgment on July 16, 2018. CP 11-19. Stevens County responded in writing and briefed the issue for Spokane County Superior Court Judge Maryann Moreno (hereinafter the "Superior Court"). CP 88-93.

The Superior Court heard oral argument on the First Motion for Summary Judgment on September 14, 2018. CP 139. After hearing argument from both Parties, the Superior Court took the matter under advisement. On December 11, 2018, the Superior Court announced its ruling and made several factual findings and conclusions of law (hereinafter "First Summary Judgment Ruling"). CP 139-41.

The Superior Court framed the sole issue as: "...whether or not the tax exemption in RCW 84.33.140(13)(d) applies in this case." CP 139. The Superior Court concluded that "[t]his sale is to a federal agency for broader use than parks and recreation purposes. The Supremacy Clause does not apply here." The Superior Court made factual determinations about the roles of USFS and the Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission. CP 140-41.

The Superior Court's findings of fact included: "Clearly, the duties of the USFS are more diverse than those duties of the parks and recreation department; sustainment of forests and grasslands, firefighting, research, technical and financial assistance, tree planting, improvement of trails, education and improvement of conditions are additional responsibilities of [the USFS]." CP 141. "The USFS is not the Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission. The mission, role, duties and tasks of these agencies diverge." CP 141.

The Superior Court also concluded that the only remaining issue of material fact after the First Motion for Summary Judgment was "...the reason for the Assessor's action." CP 140. Therefore, the only remaining determination to make was whether or not the triggering event for Stevens County removing the forestland designation was because Western Rivers did not use the property for the growth and harvest of timber, the sale to the USFS, or both. CP 140. Attached, as **Appendix B**, is the Superior Court's First Summary Judgment Ruling, in which the Superior Court stated the appropriate test and correctly worked the test.

Western Rivers did not move for reconsideration, nor did it mount any timely challenge to the findings or conclusions. The First Summary Judgment Ruling was memorialized by entry of the Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on January 7, 2019. CP 147-48.

After the First Summary Judgment Ruling, Western Rivers conducted discovery, presumably to answer the Superior Court's question of Stevens County's motive in removing the forestland designation. CP 171. On December 13, 2019, Western Rivers took a second bite at summary judgment on the same issues. CP 152. The Superior Court heard argument on the Second Motion for Summary Judgment on January 10, 2020, and took the matter under advisement. RP at pages 3; 15, lines 10-15. Western Rivers' Second Motion for Summary Judgment challenged the Superior Court's findings about the differences between the USFS and the Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission. CP 157-58.

In an unusual reversal of its prior findings and conclusions, the Superior Court granted Western Rivers' Second Motion for Summary Judgment on the same issue and on the same set of facts on which it had denied the First Motion for Summary Judgment. On March 4, 2020, the Superior Court issued its decision via letter (hereinafter "Second Motion for Summary Judgment Ruling). CP 231-33.

The Superior Court concluded that RCW 84.33.140(13)(d) implicated the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution and was therefore an unconstitutional tax on the United States. CP 233. The Superior Court did not rule on the issue of whether imposition of the compensating tax was proper under RCW 84.33.140(5)(e).

Stevens County appealed the Second Motion for Summary Judgment Ruling. On July 1, 2021, the Court of Appeals, Division III, handed down its ruling (hereinafter the "Decision"), holding that imposition of forestland compensating tax violated the Intergovernmental Tax Immunity Doctrine because the recipient federal agency may use the forestland in the same way that the Washington Parks and Recreation Commission would use the forestland. Decision at 8-10. Among its many faults, the Decision ignored half of the case's procedural history, including the Superior Court's ruling on Western Rivers' First Summary Judgment Motion. Stevens County now petitions this Court for review.

E. ARGUMENT

There is a reason Washington is known as the Evergreen State. According to the Washington Forest Protection Association, Washington's total land area is 42.6 million acres. See **Appendix C**, "Forest Facts and Figures", by WFPA. Approximately half of Washington's total land area is comprised of forestland. <u>Id.</u> Of the 21.3 million acres of forestland, nearly 37% of that land is privately owned and approximately 63% is managed or owned by a governmental entity. <u>Id.</u> Of the 63% of governmental forestlands, the United States Government owns or manages approximately 44.1%. <u>Id.</u> Other governmental entities, such as Native American tribes and nations, own or control approximately 7% of the total forestland. <u>Id.</u> State trust lands and county and municipal properties make up over 12% of the total. <u>Id.</u> For example, the total estimate of Washington Department of Natural Resources forestland holdings is approximately 2.5 million acres. See **Appendix D**, USFS Forest Inventory and Analysis: Washington.

The factual scenario presented by this Case will happen again in Washington and the dangerous, incorrect, and unwieldy test handed down by the Court of Appeals not only implicates a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the United States, but it will have a far-reaching negative impact on counties, municipalities, native nations, and private landowners, throughout the state.

1. <u>The Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant constitutional</u> <u>question because it misapprehends the Intergovernmental Tax</u> <u>Immunity Doctrine.</u>

The Intergovernmental Tax Immunity Doctrine (hereinafter the "Doctrine") is a core constitutional principle that is derived from interpretation of the United States Constitution, particularly the Supremacy Clause, and the relationship between states and the federal government.

Founded upon the United States Constitution's Supremacy Clause, "...a state tax may not discriminate against the [Federal] Government or those with whom it deals." <u>Phillips Chem. Co. v. Dumas Indep. Sch. Dist.</u>, 361 U.S. 376, 387, 80 S. Ct. 474, 481, 4 L. Ed. 2d 384 (1960) (citing <u>M'Culloch v. Maryland</u>, 4 Wheat 316, 4. L.Ed. 579 (1819)). However, "[a] tax is not invalid simply because it treats those who deal with the Federal Government differently than it treats others." <u>Washington v. United States</u>, 460 U.S. 536, 537, 103 S. Ct. 1344, 1345–46, 75 L. Ed. 2d 264 (1983). "Under our precedents, "[t]he imposition of a heavier tax burden on [those who deal with one sovereign] than is imposed on [those who deal with the other] must be justified by significant differences between the two classes." <u>Davis v. Michigan Dep't of Treasury</u>, 489 U.S. 803, 815–16, 109 S. Ct. 1500, 1508, 103 L. Ed. 2d 891 (1989) (quoting <u>Phillips Chemical Co. v.</u> <u>Dumas Independent School Dist.</u>, 361 U.S. 376, 383, 80 S.Ct. 474, 479 (1960)).

The Doctrine prohibits differential treatment by a state when, "1. A state imposes more favorable tax conditions on those who deal with state government than it imposes on those who deal with the federal government and 2. No significant differences between the two **classes** exist that would justify the disparate treatment." <u>Dawson v. Steager</u>, 139 S. Ct. 698, 703, 203 L. Ed. 2d 29 (2019) (emphasis added). The Doctrine should be thought of as the "Similarly Situated" test. <u>Dawson v. Steager</u> is unremarkable when viewed in light of its predecessor, <u>Davis v. Michigan Dept. of Treasury</u>, 489 U.S. 803, 109 S.Ct. 1500 (1989). The only thing <u>Dawson v. Steager</u> did beyond that of <u>Davis</u>, was to add an exclamation mark to <u>Davis</u>. Both <u>Dawson v. Steager</u> and <u>Davis</u> direct a reviewing court to examine whether there is any "significant difference" between the favored state

employee or retiree and the disfavored federal employee or retiree. <u>Dawson</u> <u>v. Steager</u>, 139 S.Ct. at 703-04; <u>Davis</u>, 489 U.S. at 815–16.

<u>Dawson v. Steager</u> concerned the interpretation and potential violation of 4 U.S.C. § 111, by a state taxing authority. Section 111 contained a specific prohibition on certain taxing behavior by a state. The prohibited taxing behavior was discrimination "...against the [federal] officer or employee because of the source of the pay or compensation." 4 U.S.C. §111(a). West Virginia imposed a tax on the pensions of retired federal employees but exempted the pensions of retired "...West Virginia police, firefighters, and deputy sheriffs." <u>Id.</u> at 705. "[The West Virginia law] extends a special tax benefit to retirees who served as West Virginia police officers, firefighters, or deputy sheriffs—and it categorically denies that same benefit to retirees who served in similar federal law enforcement positions." <u>Id.</u> at 706.

Unlike the State of West Virginia in <u>Dawson v. Steager</u>, Washington's RCW 84.33.140(13)(d) does not discriminate against the USFS solely because of its position as a federal agency. More aptly put, Subsection (13)(d) does not differentiate between agencies solely on the federal vs. state dichotomy. Instead, the tax exemption found in subsection 13(d) relates to the situation of the recipient agency **and** the uses to which the agency will put the forestland. What the Court of Appeals failed to grasp was that the Washington tax rule is more exacting than the Doctrine.

The Court of Appeals' dangerous, unwieldy rule forces assessors to take the recipient agency's stated intentions at face value and prevents an inquiry into whether the disfavored and favored entities are similarly situated. Decision at 8-10. The Court of Appeals' rule misses the forest for the trees. The Court of Appeals cleaved the long-standing Doctrine and admonishes Washington entities to look **only** at the uses to which the recipient agencies claims it will put the forestland, not whether the favored and disfavored agencies are similarly situated.¹ Doing so ignores the Doctrine and the more stringent Subsection 13(d), in favor of a new rule that borders on absurdity in its application.

The Court of Appeals' rule is akin to disregarding the similar situation of the federal and state retirees' original job descriptions, in favor of asking how each retiree spends her or his money. If, according to the Court of Appeals' test, there is no difference in how a state retiree spends

¹ "At summary judgment, Western Rivers produced evidence showing the land sale to the USFS was for recreation purposes....Because Western Rivers produced uncontested evidence showing its land sale met the definitional purpose of a tax exemption under RCW 84.33.140(13)(d), summary judgment was proper." Decision at 9-10. The Court of Appeals also claimed that Petitioner Stevens County "...complains there are questions of fact as to wither USFS's stated intent was accurate." Decision at 9. That part of the Decision is egregiously false. Petitioner Stevens County did not contend that there were genuine issues of material fact; it contended that Western Rivers was not entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

her or his retirement money and how the federal retiree spends her or his retirement money, then the state tax violates the Doctrine. Applied to a land transfer scenario, a federal agency such as the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission (hereinafter "U.S.NRC") could state its intention to acquire forest land, with the stated purpose of recreation and environmental preservation. The U.S.NRC's slogan is "Protecting People and the Environment." The U.S.NRC could acquire the forest land and then convert it to a radioactive waste storage site. Under the Court of Appeals' rule, the transfer to the U.S.NRC would qualify as a tax-exempt transfer, in spite of the subsequent use as a radioactive waste storage site. On the other hand, under the appropriate bright-line rule created by the United States Supreme Court, the transfer would be taxable because the Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission and the U.S.NRC are not similarly situated agencies.

The Court of Appeals agreed that USFS and Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission are not similarly situated entities, but relegated that conclusion--which coincidentally is the Doctrine in a nutshell--to only a footnote. Decision at 8, footnote 3.

This Court should accept review of the Decision to reverse a rule based on such a horrific misapprehension of constitutional law. This Court should restore the bright-line rule. 2. <u>The Court of Appeals' decision substantially impacts a matter of significant public interest: the taxation, use, and transfer of half of the land in the state of Washington.</u>

The Decision upends a significant portion of Washington State taxation of forestland. The public has a substantial interest in what is done with 50% of the state of Washington. "We may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it 'involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." <u>State v. Watson</u>, 155 Wash. 2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005) (quoting RAP 13.4(b)(4)). Prime examples of issues of substantial public interest include proceedings involving DOSA sentencings in Pierce County and policy letters regarding *ex parte* communications. <u>Id.</u>

"It is well established in this state that an exemption in a statute imposing a tax must be strictly construed in favor of the application of the tax and against the person claiming the exemption." <u>Corp. of Catholic</u> <u>Archbishop of Seattle v. Johnston</u>, 89 Wash. 2d 505, 507, 573 P.2d 793, 794 (1978) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted). "Further, the burden of showing qualification for the tax benefit afforded rests with the taxpayer. And, statutes which provide for (exemption) are, in case of doubt or ambiguity, to be construed strictly, though fairly and in keeping with the ordinary meaning of their language, against the taxpayer." <u>Id.</u> (internal quotation marks omitted). The Legislature's intent on creating a system of forestland taxation,

known as the Open Space Taxation Act, is for the public welfare, which

requires that Washington's

...system for taxation of timber and forestlands be modernized to assure the citizens of this state and its future generations the advantages to be derived from the continuous production of timber and forest products from the significant area of privately owned forests in this state. It is this state's policy to encourage forestry and restocking and reforesting of such forests so that present and future generations will enjoy the benefits which forest areas provide in enhancing water supply, in minimizing soil erosion, storm and flood damage to persons or property, in providing a habitat for wild game, in providing scenic and recreational spaces, in maintaining land areas whose forests contribute to the natural ecological equilibrium, and in providing employment and profits to its citizens and raw materials for products needed by everyone.

RCW 84.33.010. The general rule of the compensatory tax in this case is stated in RCW 84.33.140(11): "[e]xcept as provided otherwise in this section, a compensating tax is imposed on land removed from designation as forestland." RCW 84.33.140(11). Removal from forestland designation can occur for one or several reasons. RCW 84.33.140(5); Washington Administrative Code 458-30-700(2). The grounds for removal are therefore not mutually exclusive. For example, a landowner can request removal under Subsection (5)(b) and the assessor can simultaneously find that the land is no longer primarily devoted to and used for the growth and harvesting of timber under Subsection 5(e).

Petitioner Stevens County removed the forestland designation and imposed the compensating tax under two triggering events. First, Petitioner Stevens County concluded that the compensating tax was due because Western Rivers was not using the property for growth and harvest of timber. That determination was made pursuant to RCW 84.33.140(5)(e) and WAC 458-30-700(2)(c). Second, Petitioner Stevens County concluded that the compensating tax was due because sale of the property did not meet any of the exceptions in RCW 84.33.140(13). That determination was made pursuant to RCW 84.33.140(5)(d), (11), & 13(d) and WAC 458-30-700(2)(b) and (6)(e). CP 96-101.

"The compensating tax specified in subsection (11) of this section may not be imposed if the removal of designation under subsection (5) of this section resulted **solely** from: ...(d) The sale or transfer of fee title to the parks and recreation commission for park and recreation purposes...." Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 84.33.140(13)(d) (emphasis added). In other words, Western Rivers had to show that the property was primarily used for growth and harvest of timber **and** that its sale fit within the exempted transfers in RCW 84.33.140(13) and WAC 458-30-700(6)(e). Western Rivers neither showed that the property was used for the growth and harvest of timber nor did it show that its transfer to the USFS met any of the transfers exempted by rule or statute. Washington State law permits and, in the case of Washington Administrative Code, commands counties to remove forestland designation if the owner of the property ceases to use the land for the growth and harvest of timber. Washington Administrative Code commands that "[t]he assessor **must** remove forest land from its designated forest land status when: ...(c) The assessor determines that the land is no longer primarily devoted to and used for growing and harvesting timber...." Washington Administrative Code 458-30-700(2)(c) (emphasis added) (see also RCW 84.33.140(5)(e) (West)).

In its Second Motion for Summary Judgment, Western Rivers raised the issue of whether Petitioner Stevens County properly removed the forestland designation under RCW 84.33.140(5)(e) and WAC 458-30-700(2)(c), but relied heavily on Subsection (5)(e)(i), which provides an escape hatch if a governmental agency, organization or other recipient of a transfer, identified in RCW 84.30.140(13) or (14) is exempt from payment of compensating tax and has "...manifested its intent in writing or by other official action to acquire a property interest in the designated forestland by means of a transaction that qualifies for an exemption under subsection (13) or (14) of this section." However, the recipient of the property must also "... annually provide the assessor of the county in which the land is located reasonable evidence in writing of the intent to acquire the designated land as long as the intent continues or within sixty days of a request by the assessor. The assessor may not request this evidence more than once in a calendar year...." RCW 84.33.140(5)(e)(i) (West); CP 159.

However, Western Rivers offered no evidence to address the latter portion of Subsection 5(e)(i) or assail the conclusion that Petitioner Stevens County complied with the requirements of Subsection (5)(e) in removal of the forestland designation. The Superior Court and the Court of Appeals entirely failed or refused to address the issue, even though it was the only remaining issue after the First Summary Judgment Ruling. The Court of Appeals compounded the error by also ignoring the issue and ignoring the fact that there had been more than one summary judgment ruling.

The Superior Court and Court of Appeals also failed to inquire as to when the removal occurred. Under Subsection 5(e) and 700(2)(c), the removal can occur before a sale or even contemplation of sale and Western Rivers would therefore owe the compensating tax for the year in which it did not use the property for the growth and harvesting of timber. Therefore, Western Rivers could have owed compensatory taxes, even if the sale to the USFS qualified as an exempt transfer under Subsection 13. The Superior Court and Court of Appeals seemed to assume that the sale was the event that triggered the compensating tax, under RCW 84.33.140(5)(d), and jumped straight to the constitutional question of whether RCW 84.33.140(13) unlawfully discriminates against the United States Government.

Taxation, by local and state governments, of half of all land within the state of Washington is undeniably a matter of great public concern. Allowing the Court of Appeals' Decision to stand without the benefit of this Court's review is an avoidable crisis.

F. CONCLUSION

The state of Washington needs this Court to rule upon these questions because they affect our State and Federal Constitutions and half of the land in Washington.