FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/27/2021 1:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100036-7

Court of Appeals No. 37516-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVENS COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

WESTERN RIVERS CONSERVANCY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michelle DeLappe, WSBA #42184
David P. Papiez, WSBA #54186
FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP
1001 Fourth Avenue Plaza, Suite 4500
Seattle, Washington 98154
(206) 624-3600
seasalt@foxrothschild.com
Attorneys for Respondent Western Rivers Conservancy

III.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED
IV.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE1
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 3
	A. The decision below followed clear and recent controlling precedent
	B. The decision below does not involve an issue of substantial public interest
VI.	CONCLUSION11

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Dawson v. Steager, 586 U.S, 139 S. Ct. 698, 203 L. Ed. 2d 29 (2019)
State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005)10
Statutes
RCW 84.33.1407
RCW 84.33.140(13)(d)
Other Authorities
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(3)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Wash. Department of Revenue, 2016 Tax Exemption Study, https://dor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/legacy/Docs/reports/2016/Tax Exemption Study 2016/17_Property Tax.pdf
Wash. Department of Revenue, Property Tax Statistics 2020, Designated Forest Land by County at https://dor.wa.gov/about/statistics-reports/property-tax-statistics/property-tax-statistics-2020

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Western Rivers Conservancy requests that the Court deny review of the Court of Appeals decision.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Stevens County has filed a petition for review of a unanimous decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals in *Western Rivers Conservancy v. Stevens County*, Court of Appeals No. 37516-1-III (2021) (cited herein as "slip op.").

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

The petition presents two issues:

- 1. RAP 13.4(b)(3) allows review if the decision involves "a significant question of law" under the U.S. Constitution. The Court of Appeals applied a recent controlling U.S. Supreme Court decision clarifying the constitutional doctrine of intergovernmental tax immunity. Does this decision adhering to clear recent precedent merit review?
- 2. RAP 13.4(b)(4) allows review if the case involves "an issue of substantial public interest." This case involves an issue under a compensating tax exemption that would apply only in unusual circumstances. Does this decision affecting a narrow issue that arises infrequently warrant review?

IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals decision accurately summarizes the facts in this case. Western Rivers Conservancy is a nonprofit organization dedicated to saving the great rivers of the West through land acquisition. CP 21-22. Western Rivers sold land located in Stevens County to the United States Forest Service ("USFS"). Slip op. at 2. USFS acquired the land to make it available for public recreation as part of the Colville National Forest, and specifically to include it as part of the route of the Pacific Northwest National Scenic Trail, a new 1,200-mile trail that will run from the Continental Divide to the Pacific Ocean. Slip op. at 2; CP 27-28, 175.

For property tax purposes, the land prior to the sale was "designated forestland" under chapter 84.33 RCW and was thus subject to reduced property tax assessments. Slip. op. at 2, 4. Shortly before the sale closed, Stevens County issued a notice that it would be removed from the designation and that \$194,652 in compensating tax would be due as a result of the removal. *Id.* at 2. Western Rivers paid the tax under protest and sued for a refund because the tax violated the intergovernmental tax immunity doctrine. *Id.* at 3. This is because, had Western Rivers sold the forestland to the Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission for park and recreation purposes, an exemption

under RCW 84.33.140(13)(d) would have applied. *Id.* at 3, 5. Because no sale to the federal government for the same purposes could qualify for an exemption, the statute unlawfully discriminated against those who deal with the federal government. *Id.* at 3. The superior court agreed and ordered the County to refund the tax with interest. *Id.* The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's order because "the entire compensating tax assessed against Western Rivers was discriminatory and therefore unlawful." *Id.* at 10.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Neither of the claimed grounds under RAP 13.4(b) justifies review here.

A. The decision below followed clear and recent controlling precedent.

This case does involve a constitutional question. That, by itself, is not sufficient to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). What is required, rather, is a "significant question of law." That is, the County must point to some significant doubt about whether the Court of Appeals followed precedent or is, on the contrary, creating some new interpretation or application of law. Here, the U.S. Supreme Court's unanimous decision in *Dawson v. Steager*,

586 U.S. ---, 139 S. Ct. 698, 702-03, 203 L. Ed. 2d 29 (2019), should put any such doubt to rest because the Court of Appeals here correctly followed its guidance, and no significant question of law arises to warrant this Court's review.

Dawson clarified the intergovernmental tax immunity doctrine. This doctrine presents a two-pronged analysis: (1) a state cannot discriminate by taxing those who deal with the federal government less favorably than those who deal with the state (2) unless significant differences justify the different treatment. Slip. op. at 5-6. As the Court of Appeals explained, Dawson "illustrates the significant differences test in practice." Id. at 6. The Court of Appeals directly applied this clearly governing precedent to the central arguments raised by Stevens County.

First, the Court of Appeals provided a detailed summary of the *Dawson* decision. Slip op. at 6-7. "With these legal principles [from *Dawson*] in mind," the court "turn[ed] to the case at hand." *Id.* at 7. In applying the first prong of the analysis, the Court of Appeals recognized that the tax exemption under RCW 84.33.140(13)(d), "[b]y its plain terms . . . favors land sales to an

entity of the state over sales to the federal government." *Id.* The Court of Appeals followed *Dawson* in rejecting the argument that no discrimination exists if the exemption is only for some state agencies. *Id.* at 8. *Dawson* made clear that it does not change the assessment of facial discrimination if the state gives preferential tax treatment to only a subset of those who deal with the state. *Dawson*, 139 S. Ct. at 703. Applying a key quote from *Dawson* to the facts in this case, the Court of Appeals explained, "the relevant question for tax immunity purposes isn't whether [federal land sales] are similarly situated to [state land sales that] don't receive a tax benefit; the relevant question is whether they are similarly situated to those [that] do." Slip op. at 9 (quoting *Dawson*, 139 S. Ct. at 705).

The Court of Appeals similarly adhered to *Dawson* in response to the County's argument that RCW 84.33.140(13)(d) does not discriminate against USFS because it is a federal agency but rather for other reasons. Petition at 9-10. Regarding the second prong, *Dawson* confirmed that the analysis must focus solely on the state's own definition rule for the favored class. *Dawson* at 705. Similarly, the Court of Appeals here focused on how the state

chose to define the favored class in RCW 84.33.140(13)(d), which simply provides an exemption for "the sale or transfer of fee title to the parks and recreation commission for park and recreation purposes." The "definitional rule set by RCW 84.33.140(13)(d)" is that "[o]nly sales for parks and recreation purposes are protected." Slip op. at 8. Since "uncontested evidence" showed the sale satisfied this definitional rule, no "significant differences" could justify the different tax treatment. *Id.* at 10.

Stevens County continues to misapprehend the import of Dawson and its application to this case and makes hyperbolic claims about what the Court of Appeals decision means. Petition at 10-11. The Court of Appeals' holding here is narrow: where a sale of designated forestland to the federal government occurs with "uncontested evidence" that it will be put to park and recreations purposes, no compensating tax can apply as long as the state continues to exempt similar transfers to a state agency without any opportunity for the federal government to avail itself of the same exemption. This narrow holding espouses no novel interpretation of the law; it simply applies clear precedent in an area of law that was already settled.

B. The decision below does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

The County launches the argument section of its petition by emphasizing how much forest, publicly and privately owned, exists in Washington. Petition at 6-7. The Court of Appeals decision, however, does not involve all forests in the state. The total area of forest is six steps removed from the very limited area involved here, as illustrated in the list below:

- (1) The petition focuses only on the total forest area in the state.
- (2) Less than 30% of the total forest area is "designated forestland" for property tax purposes.¹
- (3) Only the land *removed* from the designation is subject to compensating tax under RCW 84.33.140 at the time of removal.
- (4) Only the land whose removal occurs under specific circumstances qualifies for one of nine exemptions listed in RCW 84.33.140(13). All nine of those exemptions result

7

¹ Compare Wash. Department of Revenue, Property Tax Statistics 2020, Designated Forest Land by County, https://dor.wa.gov/about/statistics-reports/property-tax-statistics-2020 (reporting 6,111,161 acres of designated forestland in the state) with Petition at 6 (reporting that approximately half the state's total land area of 42.6 million acres is forest).

- in approximately \$1 million total in exempted state and local taxes annually.²
- (5) This case involves only one of those nine exemptions—RCW 84.33.140(13)(d).
- (6) More particularly, the case involves only those who sell or transfer fee title to the *federal* government for park and recreation purposes, not to the "parks and recreation commission" as set forth in the exemption language.

There is an indication that this sixth sub-portion is extremely rare. The exemption under RCW 84.33.140(13)(d) has existed for nearly 30 years.³ There is no evidence that this issue with the exemption has arisen during that time. There is similarly no evidence that this issue will recur very often. The facts in the record show that this specific area of designated forestland presented a special situation: USFS received special "funding in order to purchase this property to add to the newly designated Pacific Northwest Scenic Trail." CP 25.

² Wash. Department of Revenue, 2016 Tax Exemption Study 17-389,

https://dor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/legacy/Docs/reports/2016/TaxExemptionStudy2016/17PropertyTax.pdf (see "taxpayer savings" table).

³ Laws of 1995, ch. 330, § 2.

The County's claim that the Court of Appeals decision could be distorted into exempting transfers of designated forestland for other than park and recreation purposes—such as a "radioactive waste storage site"—is unfounded. Petition at 11. The Court of Appeals decision applied to designated forestland transferred to the federal government for park and recreation purposes based on "uncontested evidence showing [Western Rivers'] land sale met the definitional purpose of a tax exemption under RCW 84.33.140(13)(d)." Slip op. at 10. The decision explains that the "definitional rule set by RCW 84.33.140(13)(d)" is that "[o]nly sales for parks and recreation purposes are protected." *Id.* at 8.

Hence the total area of forest is far removed from the very limited effect of this case. To illustrate the magnitude of the disparity, it is as though in a matter about a solitary life raft, one emphasized only the massive size of the Titanic. The Court of Appeals decision is narrowly tailored and has a limited effect on a compensating tax exemption that rarely presents the issue under the intergovernmental tax immunity doctrine that arose in this case.

This is in marked contrast with the sole case interpreting RAP 13.4(b)(4) that the County cited: State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Petition at 12. The factors in Watson in fact further support denying review. Watson "present[ed] a prime example of an issue of substantial public interest." Watson, 155 Wn.2d at 577. In Watson, a Court of Appeals decision that a prosecuting attorney's memo to judges about general policy on drug offender sentencing was a prohibited parte communication threatened sweeping implications for numerous individuals. The Supreme Court explained its consideration of several factors to determine whether the petition involved a substantial public interest: the decision had the potential to affect every similar proceeding, invited unnecessary litigation, created confusion generally, had the potential to chill policy decisions taken by attorneys and judges, immediately affected a significant segment of the population, presented a question of a public nature that was likely to recur, and presented the need for an authoritative determination for future guidance of public officials. *Id.* at 577-78.

None of these factors are present here. The Court of Appeals

decision addresses a narrow issue that arises infrequently. The

decision is clear, will not create unnecessary litigation, and affects

only a small segment of the population.

VI. CONCLUSION

Because the decision follows clear controlling precedent, no

significant question of law is involved. And because the petition

involves a narrow issue that arises infrequently and with very

limited effect, it is not of sufficient public interest to warrant

Supreme Court review. Western Rivers therefore asks the Court

to deny the petition.